# UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

# Cost-effectiveness analysis of organized HPV DNA screening in Romania



Bianca Florentina Niculescu Supervised by: Lumbwe Chola

University of Oslo, The Faculty of Medicine, Department of Health Management and Health Economics Thesis submitted as a part of the Master of Philosophy Degree in Health Economics, Policy and Management May, 2023

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Lumbwe Chola for supporting me during this journey. You were always available to answer my questions and helped me overcome the challenges of economic evaluation. I would also like to thank Emily Burger for always making time to share her invaluable knowledge on economic modelling and HPV.

I'm extremely grateful for my family who has always supported me and encouraged me to start this Master's programme, even if it meant leaving home. I also wish to thank my friends from home Gab, Catalina, Nadina and Bogdan for always being there for me. Special thanks to my friend Ioana for inspiring me to choose this path.

Finally, my experience studying in Oslo would not have been so beautiful without my best friends Adrian, Nora, Maren, Lea and my partner LeoPål. You constantly supported and motivated me during these two years.

# Abstract

**Introduction:** Cervical cancer represents a major health issue in Romania. However, there is no organized HPV screening program available at the moment, despite studies showing its cost-effectiveness in other countries. Moreover, there are also no cost-effectiveness studies on HPV screening in Romania. Therefore, we wanted to explore the cost effectiveness of an organized HPV screening strategy using HPV DNA testing every five years for women over 30 until 65.

**Methods:** The analysis was done using a Markov tree built in Amua to reflect the natural history of HPV. Transition probabilities for high-risk HPV strands were selected after a literature review. A cohort of 10,000 women was simulated. We adopted a provider perspective, including only direct medical costs and QALYs as outcomes. We calculated the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) and assessed the cost-effectiveness of the strategies using a 50,000 euro threshold. Different cost scenarios were analyzed and sensitivity analyses were ran.

**Results**: The cost-effectiveness analysis showed HPV DNA screening to be the most cost-effective strategy in all the scenarios, with ICERS below the 50,000 euro threshold. However, the value of the ICER differed greatly between the scenarios. Moreover, the PSA showed that HPV DNA screening is the most cost-effective option as the willingness to pay threshold increases. However, for our willingness to pay it showed a relatively low probability of being the most cost-effective choice.

**Conclusion:** Organized HPV DNA screening can be the cost-effective option depending on the resources available and the willingness to pay for health. Further research on the cost and effectiveness data of HPV screening for Romania would be very useful for removing a high degree of analytic uncertainty.

# Table of contents

Acknow	wledgements	ii
Abstrac	et	iii
List of a	abbreviations	vi
List of t	figures	vii
List of	tables	viii
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Background information	3
	2.1 The natural history of HPV	3
	2.2 Screening of HPV	4
	2.6 HPV vaccination	6
	2.7 Treatment of cervical cancer	7
	2.8 Vaccination and screening of cervical cancer in the EU	8
	2.9 Background information on Romania	10
	2.10 Sociodemographic context	10
	2.11 Political context	11
	2.12 Economic context	11
	2.13 Health care system	12
	2.14HPV cancer in Romania	14
3.	Theoretical framework	16
	3.1 Economic Evaluation	16
	3.2 Types of economic evaluation	16
	3.3 Decision modelling in economic evaluation	17
	3.4 Measuring effectiveness	21
	3.5 Dealing with uncertainty	24
	3.6 Expected Value of Perfect Information and Expected Value of Perfect	25
	Parameter Information	
4.	Methods and data	27
	4.1 Analytical overview	27
	4.2 Model description	27

	4.3 The natural history of HPV	28
	4.4 The screening and treatment protocol	30
	4.5 Data	31
	4.6 Scenario analysis	34
	4.7 Sensitivity analysis and EVPI	35
	4.8 Software	36
5.	Results	37
	5.1 Base-case scenario	37
	5.2 Scenario two	38
	5.3 Scenario three	39
	5.4 Scenario four	40
	5.5 One-way sensitivity analysis	41
	5.6 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis	42
	5.7 EVPI and EVPPI	43
6.	Discussion	44
	6.1 Implications for policy and further research	45
	6.2 Related research	46
	6.3 Limitations	46
	6.4 Strength of the research	48
7.	Conclusion	49
Ret	ferences	50
Ap	pendix	59

# List of abbreviations

CEA	Cost-effectiveness analysis
CEAC	Cost-effectiveness acceptability curve
CIN	Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia
EU	European Union
EVPI	Expected Value of Perfect Information
EVPPI	Expected Value of Perfect Parameter Information
HPV	Human Papilloma Virus
hrHPV	High Risk Human Papilloma Virus
ICER	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
NATO	North Atlantic Treaty Organization
PSA	Probabilistic sensitivity analysis
UK	United Kingdom
UN	United Nations
US	United States
WHO	World Health Organization
WTO	World Trade Oranization
WTP	Willingness to pay
QALY	Quality Adjusted Life Years

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Evolution of HPV infection to cancer	4
Figure 2: Screening algorithm for HPV infection	10
Figure 3: A hypothetical decision tree	19
Figure 4: A hypothetical Markov model	20
Figure 5: Cost-effectiveness plane	23
Fig.6A: Natural history of hrHPV strands	28
Fig.6B: Tunnel state for the post-diagnosis cancer state	28
Figure 7: Base-case cost-effectiveness analysis	37
Figure 8: CEAC	42
Figure 9: EVPPI results	43

# List of Tables

Table 1. Utility parameters used in the model	31
Table 2. Overview of costs	33
Table 3. Base-case cost-effectiveness analysis	38
Table 4. Scenario analysis – lower HPV DNA price	38
Table 5. Scenario analysis – inclusion of productivity losses	39
Table 6. Scenario analysis: higher treatment costs plus productivity losses	40
Table 7. Results from one-way sensitivity analysis	41

# 1. Introduction

Human Papillomavirus (HPV) is one of the most spread viruses worldwide; studies show that almost 80% of women will acquire the infection during their lifetime (Chesson et al., 2014). HPV is a sexually transmitted infection that usually does not require treatment, going away on its own. However, 10-15% of cases can develop into cancer, negatively impacting patients and the health system (Seong et al., 2021).

Nowadays, most countries in the European Union have implemented screening and vaccination programs to prevent the development of cervical cancer in the population (Todor et al., 2021). Research has shown that countries that have successfully implemented organized screening and vaccinations have drastically reduced and, in some cases, even eliminated cervical cancer (Ilisiu et al, 2019). Despite being part of the European Union, Romania represents an extreme case for cervical cancer, presenting the highest incidence and mortality rate in the EU (Ilisu et al., 2019).

Romania has the EU's highest cervical cancer incidence and mortality rate, 19.9 and 8.9 per 100.000 women, respectively (Ilisu et al., 2019). It is estimated that 3308 women in Romania are diagnosed with cervical cancer yearly, and 1805 die from it (Bruni et al., 2021). Despite the very high incidence of HPV and cervical cancer, at present there is no organized screening or vaccination for HPV.

In addition, there is little research on cervical cancer in the Romanian context. A literature review showed no studies on organized screening or vaccination cost-effectiveness. The only available research studies the society's attitudes toward the vaccine and the factors that led to the failure of past campaigns targeting cervical cancer. Those studies have found that society is generally very poorly informed about HPV (Grigore et al., 2018; Todor et al., 2021; Craciun & Baban, 2012). Most people get their information from unofficial sources and know very little about HPV and its consequences.

Despite being a significant health challenge in Romanian society, the general population is poorly informed, and there are no economic studies on this topic. However, previous studies focusing on

other EU states have found organized screening to have a positive health and economic impact (Todor et al., 2021). For example, countries like Austria, Germany and Belgium had similar mortality rates to Romania in the 1970s before organized screening was introduced (Todor et al., 2021). Nowadays, these countries have a death rate of about two deaths per 100.000 women, reducing cervical cancer mortality by 75% in some cases (Todor et al., 2021).

Hence, considering the evidence from other EU countries, introducing an organized screening programme can potentially improve Romania's drastic HPV situation. This paper thus aims to fill a gap in the literature by investigating the cost-effectiveness of introducing organized HPV screening (compared to no screening) in Romania.

# 2. Background information

#### 2.1 The natural history of HPV

HPV are small double-stranded DNA viruses, and there are over 80 types of HPV strands that can be divided into two categories: low and high-risk strands (Bedell et al., 2020, pp.28-29). While low-risk strands can lead to the development of genital, oral or anal warts, it does not cause cancer (Bedell et al., 2020, p.28). Instead, the high-risk strands can lead to different types of cancers, the most common being cervical cancer (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 29). About 15 types of high-risk HPVs can cause cancer (Stanley, 2010, p. 1).

Studies show that HPV infections are most common in women under 25 (Stanley, 2010, p. 56). There is a decline in acquiring HPV infections after the age of 30 and then a rise again in the postmenopausal age group (Stanley, 2010, p. 56). HPV is contracted through any type of sexual intercourse that involves direct skin contact (Stanley, 2010, p.57). Factors that affect one's likelihood of acquiring HPV are mostly related to one's sexual behaviour, such as the age of first sexual intercourse, the number of sexual partners or the number of lifetime partners (Stanley, 2010, p.57).

Most women worldwide are affected by the HPV virus, presenting a 50-80% chance of infection in a lifetime (Stanley, 2010, p. 56). In addition, around 10% of women with a normal cervix present an HPV infection at any given time (Stanley, 2010, p. 56). However, in most cases, HPV infection clears itself out in about two years.

In a minority of cases, the body does not have a successful immune response; consequently, the virus does not regress (Stanley, 2010, p. 56). Instead, these women remain HPV positive, continually producing the infectious virus and causing changes in cervical cells (Stanley, 2010, p. 56). Hence, this leads to the appearance of cervical intra-epithelial neoplasia (CIN), the precancerous stage of cervical cancer. CIN can be defined as an abnormal growth of cells on the surface of the cervix caused by hrHPV strands (Cleaveland Clinic, 2022). CIN has multiple stages depending on how much epithelial tissue presents abnormal cells, as shown in *Figure 1*. For

example, CIN1 is the stage in which one-third of the thickness of the epithelium is affected, CIN2 is the stage in which one-third to two-thirds is affected, and CIN3 refers to more than two-thirds of the epithelium is affected. (Cleaveland Clinic, 2022). If the infection does not regress on its own or is not treated, it will first develop into local cancer, followed by regional and distant (Cleaveland Clinic, 2022).



Figure 1: Evolution of HPV infection to cancer (Source: Cancer Research UK, 2020)

## 2.2 Screening of HPV

Because HPV infections have no symptoms, screening is the only way to detect such an infection early and prevent cervical cancer development. The three most common screening tests are visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA), the Pap test and HPV DNA testing (Bedell et al., 2020).

#### Pap test

This screening method was invented in the 1940s when George N. Papanicolaou and H. F. Traut managed to exfoliate cells from the cervix and interpret them morphologically with the help of a microscope (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 30). They demonstrated that by using the microscope, we can differentiate between normal and abnormal cervix smears (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 30). From that moment on, it became the standard HPV screening method, as it had little cost and was relatively

easy to conduct (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 30). Over the years, updates have been made to the test, and nowadays, studies suggest that it has a specificity of around 98% and lower varying sensitivity between 55 and 80% (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 31). In developed countries, it has proved to be one of the most cost-effective screening methods, significantly lowering the incidence and mortality of cervical cancer (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 31). However, it proved very hard to implement in developing countries as it is resource intensive, making it too costly (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 31). Moreover, because of low sensitivity, it must be redone frequently, necessitating an excellent medical infrastructure that is often missing in developing countries (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 31).

#### Visual inspection by acetic acid

A second screening method is the visual inspection by acetic acid (VIA), which is less costly compared to the pap test, making it more accessible for low-resource settings. This method entails the practitioner applying acetic acid on the cervix, making precancerous lesions visible to the naked eye (Bedell et al., 2020, pp. 32-33). Studies have shown this to be the most cost-effective screening for low-resource countries, as it requires few resources and is easy to perform (Bedell et al., 2020, pp.32-33). However, while this screening method has acceptable sensitivity and specificity levels, it relies heavily on the subjectivity of the practitioner. It has higher rates of false negatives, which can ultimately lead to higher costs as further tests are required.

#### HPV DNA testing

Finally, HPV DNA is a screening method that involves a sample collection of cells from the cervix, which are then analyzed by the clinician in the lab. Studies have shown HPV DNA testing to be more accurate than cytology-based screening as it has higher sensitivity for CIN2 or CIN3 cells (Origoni et al., 2012). Moreover, HPV DNA testing is essential for the follow-up of patients already treated for CIN2+. The test can accurately detect residual or recurrent disease, which is essential as these patients have a higher risk of relapsing (Origoni et al., 2012, p. 5). Countries such as the US have adopted HPV DNA testing as its main primary screening method, and it is expected in the following decades for this to become the standard in many countries (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 31). A significant advantage of the HPV DNA test is that it does not necessitate a medical provider to take the cell sample (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 32). Instead, women can do it themselves,

with studies showing acceptable sensitivity and specificity for self-collected samples (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 32).

One disadvantage of HPV DNA is that it attracts high costs. Because it needs to be analyzed in a laboratory and requires sophisticated technology, it can to too costly for developing countries (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 32). However, HPV tests specifically designed for developing countries have been made at a substantially lower price, making them an accessible option (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 32).

# 2.3 HPV vaccination

In 2006 the first HPV vaccine was approved, called Gardasil. Currently, two more approved vaccines protect against multiple strains of HPV, Gardasil 9 and Cervarix (Bedell et al., 2020, p. 29). All these vaccines protect against HPV16 and 18, the most widespread cancerous strains. The vaccine is recommended for both men and women between the ages of 9 and 26 (Bedell et al., 2020, p.29). However, research studies have shown it to be effective for people up to the age of 45 (Bedell et al., 2020, p.29). Even if an individual has already been infected with one type of HPV, the vaccine can protect them against other strands.

Trials have shown the vaccines to be 100% effective against cervical cancer (Bedell et al., 2020, p.29). Moreover, a study from the UK has demonstrated that by introducing HPV vaccination in the national immunization program, cervical cancer has been completely eliminated for women born since 1995 (Falcaro et al., 2021). Hence, vaccination can effectively prevent and even eradicate cervical cancer. Vaccinated people are still recommended to get screened, but as societies reach higher vaccination rates, different screening protocols might be needed.

However, the global vaccination rates are still relatively low, with statistics showing that in 2021 only 13% of girls worldwide were fully vaccinated against HPV (World Health Organization, 2022). In addition, in the past few years, very high demand for the vaccine has led to supply shortages, with low-income countries being the most affected (World Health Organization, 2022). For example, it was estimated that by 2015, 59 million women received one dose of the vaccine,

out of which only 1,4 million were from low-income countries (Bedell et al., 2020, p.30). Therefore, access to HPV vaccination is still limited, especially in developing countries.

#### 2.4 Treatment of cervical cancer

If the screening test has been positive, a colposcopy, sometimes in combination with a biopsy, will be recommended (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017). This allows the medical providers to establish if the HPV infection has developed into cancer and at what stage exactly.

If the HPV infection develops into one of the CIN stages, it is considered a precancerous stage. Usually, the treatment at this stage will involve the excision of the cervical transformation zone (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017, p.87). This procedure can be done using different methods. Two common techniques are the conization of the cervix and the LEEP procedure (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017). Both have proved to be very efficient and only required local anaesthesia. Cryotherapy is another alternative that implies the destruction of the transformation zone by freezing (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017, p.87). However, it takes substantially longer than LEEP and requires CO<sub>2</sub>, which can raise costs considerably (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017, p.97-88). Lastly, cold-knife cone biopsy is the oldest procedure and is still used in areas where technology is not widely available (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017, p.91). It is done under general anaesthesia and implies the removal of the transformation zone but usually results in the removal of a more extensive tissue zone than necessary (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017, pp.91-92). Overall, it is a more complex procedure and has more complications later on (Prendiville & Sankaranarayanan, 2017, pp.91-92).

If the colposcopy or the biopsy indicates the presence of cervical cancer, a different treatment procedure will be adopted. Four main cervical cancer stages are determined based on the size of the cervical tumour or its extension in the pelvis (Waggoner, 2003, p 2218.). Then, depending on the patient and the cancer stage, treatment can include conization, hysterectomy, radiotherapy or different types of chemotherapy (Waggoner, 2003, p.2220).

#### 2.5 Vaccination and screening of cervical cancer in the EU

The HPV vaccine is available under different conditions in all EU countries. In 2018, out of the 27 official EU countries, including the UK, 25 had added HPV vaccination to their national immunization programs (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, pp.12-13). However, no EU country has yet achieved more than 90% vaccine uptake for the final dose (European Cancer Organisation, 2021). Studies have shown that the most common reasons for refusing vaccination among EU countries are: insufficient or inadequate information about the vaccine, worries about adverse side effects, mistrust in authorities and doubts about the efficiency of the vaccine (Karafillakis et al., 2019, p.1618).

While vaccination can be a form of primary prevention against HPV cancer, screening is still necessary as vaccination does not protect against all types of HPV, and the coverage is not big enough in many parts of Europe. However, with an efficient screening strategy, studies have shown that HPV cancer mortality can be significantly reduced, and the quality of life for the patients can also be greatly improved (Peirson, et al., 2013). Hence, countries around Europe have developed and implemented various screening strategies. Screening can either be opportunistic or organized population-based screening.

In 1993, the first edition of the European Guidelines for Quality Assurance in Cervical Cancer Screening published the first official guidelines for organized population-based screening (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p.6) The second edition further emphasized the importance of organized screening, inviting all European countries to adhere to this screening model (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p.6). This type of screening entails that each person from the population eligible for screening will be personally invited to screening, this way reaching a high screening coverage (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p. 6). It also requires a regional or national team that can oversee the implementation of the guidelines, rules, and protocols while also taking responsibility for quality assurance (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p.7). Finally, population-based screening allows for vast data collection and implicit evaluation of the burden of diseases. This facilitates further research and offers authorities an overview of the healthy population.

In contrast, opportunistic screening is not organized on a national or regional level, but rather it is an individual choice that requires personal awareness and effort (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p. 7). Therefore, this type of screening leads to only a subtype of the population getting screening, usually people with a higher socio-economic status.

For the above reasons, the European guidelines recommend organized screening over opportunistic one. However, the organization of screening varies significantly from country to country. It is influenced by many factors, such as the available economic resources, the existing medical infrastructure, and society's attitudes towards screening (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p.11). In 2018, surveys showed that organized screening was fully implemented in only nine countries: Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Latvia, Poland, Slovenia, Sweden, The Netherlands, and the United Kingdom (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p.11). However, 22 member states are in the process of implementing, piloting, or planning organized screening (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p. 11). At that moment, some countries such as Bulgaria, Greece, and Austria do not have organized population-based screening, but most have guidelines or recommendations (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p.11). For example, there is no organized screening in Switzerland, but the Swiss Gynecological Society recommends it, and the Pap test is covered by health insurance (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p.11).

Regarding the type of test used, The European Guidelines and the World Health Organization recommend HPV DNA testing over the Pap test or other tests because of its high cost-effectiveness (Chrysostomou et al., 2018). HPV DNA testing is very effective, having a high sensitivity, high negative predictive value and requires lower costs because of low training requirements and less frequent screening (Origoni et al, 2012). The European Guidelines recommend that HPV DNA testing should be done every 5 to 10 years, depending on the patient's characteristics (Chrysostomou et al., 2018). Considering the natural history of cervical cancer, the European Guidelines recommend that screening starts at 30 or 35 (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p. 8). For cytology-based screening, it is recommended to start no earlier than 20 years old (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p. 8). It is recommended for both HPV DNA testing and cytology that screening is stopped at age 65 (Chrysostomou et al., 2018, p. 8).



Figure 2: Screening algorithm for HPV infection (Source: World Health Organization, 2021, p.69)

*Figure 2* illustrates a screening algorithm proposed by WHO. A patient is first screened with an HPV DNA test. If the result is negative, the patient will be screened again in 5 or 10 years, depending on the country's protocol. If the test is positive, a colposcopy is done to determine the exact stage of the HPV infection. Depending on the colposcopy result, the necessary medical intervention will be made.

# 2.6 Background information on Romania

#### 2.7 Sociodemographic context

Romania is situated in South-Eastern Europe, bordering Moldova, Ukraine, Hungary, Serbia and Bulgaria. It has a population of 19 million, representing Europe's seventh-largest population (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 4). Romania presents an ethnically mixed population with a Romanian majority of 88,9%. The Hungarian ethnicity represents 6.5% of the population, 3.3% identify as Roma, and 1,3% are different nationalities (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 4). In 2021, 46% of the population lived in rural areas, while the remaining 54% in urban areas (World Bank, 2021). The life expectancy is one of the lowest in the EU; for men is 70.5 years, while for women, 's is 78 (Statista, 2023). The infant mortality rate is 6.4 per 1000 births (World Bank, 2023).

#### **2.8 Political context**

Romania had a communist political and economic system from 1947 until 1989, when the anticommunist revolution occurred. Romania had one of the harshest dictatorships in Europe under Nicolae Ceausescu. The revolution was also one of the deadliest communist revolutions in Europe, with 1,100 people dying (Paun, 2019). In 1991, a new Constitution was adopted, establishing Romania as a presidential republic with a free-market economy and guaranteed property rights (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 6). In 2007, Romania joined the EU; nowadays, it is a member of NATO, WTO and UN (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 6).

One of Romania's most significant political challenges has been corruption (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 7). The Romanian health authorities and the EU authorities have been battling political corruption for years, leading to many major political arrests. For example, one of the most high-profile arrests on the basis of corruption was the arrest of former Prime Minister Adrian Nastase (Marinas, 2014). In 2021, Transparency International ranked Romania as the 66th least corrupt country in the world out of 180, with a score of 45.

#### 2.9 Economic context

Romania used to be one of the least-performing economies in the EU when it joined the alliance. The instability from the fall of the communist regime led to two big recessions, resulting in a simple and poorly performing and a significant poverty gap (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 4). In 2015, Romania had the highest inequality gap in the EU, with the wealthiest households earning 7.2% or times? more than the poorest (European Parliament, n.d.).

However, since joining the EU, Romania underwent significant economic reforms, which resulted in an increasingly sophisticated economy and the biggest economic growth in the Union since 2010 (World Bank, 2023). As a result, in 2023, Romania is classified by the World Bank as an upper-middle-income country. In 2021, the GPD per capita was 14,858, being ranked as the 44th richest economy in the world (World Bank, 2021). Hence, Romania's economy is ever-evolving, making significant progress since the fall of the communist regime. Still, nowadays, the economy faces increasing challenges from the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing war in neighboring Ukraine (World Bank, 2023).

#### 2.10 Health care system

There are two main levels in the Romanian healthcare system: the national and the district level. The national level is represented by the Minister of Health, the leading actor responsible for developing and implementing health policy (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 16). On a district level, the main responsible actor is the National Health Insurance House (NHIH), which oversees the health insurance system and ensures that the healthcare provider works according to the national rules (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 16). The legal framework within which the healthcare system operates is Law 95/2006 on Health Reform (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 17). This legal act regulates all health system sectors, such as the finance, policy and organization of healthcare, and the provision of all healthcare services or medical practice (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p.17).

In 2020, Romania had one of the EU's lowest healthcare expenditures per capita (Eurostat, 2020). Even if spending has doubled since communist times, it still lags behind other EU countries (Vlådescu et al., 2016, p. 45). The primary source of financing for the healthcare system is the national health insurance contribution, which represented 65% of the total funding in 2013 (Vlådescu et al., 2016, p. 45). The second source is out-of-pocket payments, accounting for 19% in 2014 (Vlådescu et al., 2016, p. 45). However, a substantial amount of money comes from informal payments, which represents a big issue as it raises many ethical issues, leading to unequal access to healthcare (Vlådescu et al., 2016, p. 45). However, around 14% of the population is uninsured, mostly people that are officially unemployed or marginalized groups such as the Roma population (Vlådescu et al., 2016, p. 46). Insurance allows access to a comprehensive benefits package, which includes most healthcare services except the dentist. At the same time, uninsured people have the right to emergency care, infectious diseases care and pregnancy care (Vlådescu et al., 2016, p. 46).

The main challenge that the Romanian healthcare system faces is achieving financial stability. The system has been struggling over the years to accumulate the necessary funding (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 126). Moreover, corruption affects not only the political and economic system but the health care system too. Informal payments represent a substantial percentage of Romanian healthcare funding, despite being illegal and corrupt. According to a study done by Asociatia Sf. Damian (2010), almost 75,5% of patients admitted to the hospital in a year offered informal payments to healthcare providers (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 65).

A second significant challenge for the healthcare system is the unequal access to services between rural and urban areas (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 107). This is caused mainly by a shortage of primary doctors willing to move to rural areas, poor infrastructure, and long distances to healthcare centres (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 107). In 2014, only about 40% of all primary care providers worked in rural areas, and about 300 communities did not have even one primary health provider (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 107).

Finally, there is a shortage of medical providers caused by the "brain drain" phenomenon (Vlădescu et al., 2016, p. 154). Many medical providers choose to emigrate and work in Western Europe, where they enjoy higher salaries and better working conditions. The free movement principle of the EU facilitates their immigration, accelerating the brain drain phenomenon.

Considering the healthcare challenges and resource constraint, value for money considerations are thus important in health decision-making in Romania. However, the use of health technology assessment is not yet officially regulated. Therefore, there are no official guidelines for cost-effectiveness analysis in Romania. However, studies have shown that healthcare experts believe there is a strong need to establish a national technology assessment program and invest in postgraduate education in this area (Rais et al., 2020).

#### 2.11 HPV cancer in Romania

In Romania, the prevalence of cervical cancer caused by HPV is very high; being the second most common type of cancer and cause of death for women aged 15 to 44 (Bruni et al.,2021). As stated in the introduction, the incidence and mortality are three times higher than in other European countries (Ilisu et al., 2019).

When it comes to HPV prevention, there is no organized screening program. Opportunistic screening is available in private hospitals, which usually leads to unequal access to healthcare. Studies have shown that women with higher education in Romania are four times more likely to get screened for cervical cancer than those without one (Afectiunile Ocoligice Feminine in Romania)(Todor, 2021). Most women claim a lack of time or lack of financial resources when explaining why they don't get screened for HPV (Todor, 2021, p.10)

Between 2012 and 2017, an organized screening program using the Pap test was introduced. The guidelines indicated that women over 25 with no prior cancer history should be screened with a Pap test every five years (Coravu et al., 2021). However, the program failed to reach its objective; out of the 6 million women it was supposed to reach, only 260,000 got tested. The reasons behind this failure include limited national coverage, as the program failed to reach rural areas. Moreover, there was not enough promotion of the program on social media or among general practitioners. The application to the program was also time-consuming, requiring many documents, which discouraged many women from applying. Finally, the program was poorly organized and sometimes discontinued due to a lack of funds (Todor, pp.9-10). Since 2017, no organized screening program has been introduced.

When it comes to vaccination, there were two extensive vaccination campaigns organized on a national level in 2008 and 2011. Both campaigns had poor results, being able to reach very little of the targeted population. The campaign in 2008 only reached 2.5% of the targeted population (Craciun & Baban, 2012). Studies have shown that most parents refused to vaccinate their daughters, as they perceived it as dangerous (Craciun & Baban, 2012). Most parents thought there was insufficient official information regarding the vaccine and its effect. They thought the

government imposed the vaccine on them without being educated about it (Craciun & Baban, 2012, p. 6791). Later studies reveal that only 50.7% of Romanian women would get vaccinated (Grigore et al., 2018, p.157). The reason for declining the vaccine is still that it is perceived as having dangerous side effects (Grigore et al., 2018, p.157). After those failed campaigns, HPV vaccination has not been introduced in the national immunization program but can be administered on request for free for girls under 18. However, the Minister of Health has announced that starting this year, the vaccine will be administered for free on request to women until the age of 45.

To conclude, the Romanian authorities have tried to lower cervical cancer's high incidence and mortality rates by introducing vaccination and screening. However, the poor organization of these programs and the lack of education on the subject led to the failure of these programs, as they did not reach their goals. Therefore, all studies recommend educational campaigns on the subject and a better organization and promotion of future organized screening and vaccination programs.

#### 3. Theoretical framework

#### **3.1 Economic Evaluation**

Economic evaluations are increasingly used worldwide to help societies effectively distribute their finite resources in the healthcare system (Briggs et al., 2006, p.1). The first countries to adopt the official use of economic evaluation in their healthcare systems were Australia and Canada (Briggs et al., 2006, p.1). Nowadays, many governments around the world use economic evaluations to decide the reimbursement of new pharmaceuticals or health interventions (Briggs et al., 2006, p.1).

In healthcare, it is unavoidable that some choices will need to be made on how to distribute resources since they are limited. The scope of economic evaluation is to inform us of the costs and consequences of a specific choice based on some defined criteria, allowing us to make an informed decision (Drummond et al., 2015). Hence, Drummond et al. (2015) define economic evaluation in healthcare as the comparison of alternatives based on the costs and consequences. There are multiple types of economic evaluations depending on the nature of the consequences.

#### 3.2 Types of economic evaluation

#### Cost-effectiveness analysis

A CEA is a type of economic evaluation that compares the costs and outcomes of two or more strategies with the same outcome, such as life years (Drummond et al., 2015, p.5). Hence, the defining feature of a CEA is that all strategies compared have the same consequence, but they achieve it to different degrees. Common measurements of consequences used in CEA are life years gained, number of cases detected, and number of episode-free days (Drummond et al., 2015, p.5). In addition, the results are usually reported as incremental cost per unit or effects per unit of cost (Drummond et al., 2015, p.5). Hence, in a CEA, the strategy that produces the most optimal outputs at the lowest or acceptable cost is the most cost-effective strategy. Generally, CEAs are used by decision-makers who must choose between limited options and within a specific budget (Drummond et al., 2015, p.7).

#### Cost-utility analysis

CUA is described by Drummond et al. (2015, p. 8) as "a variant of CEA", and it is often referred to as a CEA. It has the same logic as a CEA, comparing the magnitudes of the same type of outcome. However, the consequences of CUA are all measured using the same generic measurement of health benefits, making it possible to compare health interventions in different healthcare sectors (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 8). To calculate health benefits, utilities for different health states are used. These utilities represent the value someone assigns to their present health state. For example, a person with light flu will probably assign a different utility to their current health state than a person with cervical cancer. These utilities are mostly calculated using surveys or questionnaires, and they range from 0, associated with being dead, to 1, representing perfect health. The most widely used measurement for CUA is quality adjusted life years (QALY), which is calculated by multiplying the utility someone gets from being in a particular health state with the time they spend in that state (Drummond et al., 2015, p.8). The results of CUA are usually reported as cost per QALY, making it easy for decision-makers to compare a wide range of interventions (Drummond et al., 2015, p.8).

#### Cost-benefit analysis

In a CBA, the consequences of intervention are expressed in monetary terms, allowing for a more obvious comparison between the costs and the consequences (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 10). Hence, in a CBA, consequences such as life years gained or QALYs are transformed into monetary values (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 10). the results of a CBA are expressed in the form of a ratio or a sum.

#### 3.3 Decision modelling in economic evaluation

Decision modelling has become an important vehicle for economic evaluation, due to the features of an economic evaluation, which seek to inform decision-making (Briggs et al., 2006, p.6-7). Decision analysis is defined as "a formalized approach to making optimal choices under conditions of uncertainty." (Muenning, 2017, p. 211). In economic evaluation, decision analytic models use complex mathematical relationships to evaluate the costs and outcomes that result from two or

more alternative interventions being compared. Decision models can either be microsimulation models, which consider variations between individual patients, or cohort models, which characterize experiences of an average patient from a cohort. The most common cohort models are described below

#### **Decision** tree

One of the most used models in economic evaluations is the decision tree. In such a model, there are a set of mutually exclusive pathways that an individual can take, each resulting in different costs and outcomes (Briggs et al., 2006, p.23). A decision tree often starts with a decision node, which separates the two health interventions being compared (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 329). The decision nodes are continued by branches, each representing a particular event a patient might experience (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 329). Branches can end in a chance node, which signals an important point of uncertainty in the model (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 329). Hence, the branches coming out of a chance node lead to very different consequences and costs. The likelihood that a patient will experience the event of a specific branch is referred to as the branch probabilities (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 329). Consequently, multiple branches form a pathway a patient might experience, depending on the pathway probabilities (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 329-330). In such a model, different interventions can be compared by summing up the costs and consequences of each pathway and then assessing how the results for each strategy compare. *Figure 3* illustrates a hypothetical decision tree.



Figure 3: A hypothetical decision tree

While decision trees are very accessible, they also present some limitations. For example, time cannot be defined so simply in a decision tree. It is often assumed that the events happen instantly over an undefined period (Drummond et al., 2015,p. 331). Therefore, decision trees cannot be used for interventions in which time represents a crucial element. For example, one cannot use QALYs as a consequence because, in a decision tree, one cannot measure how much time a patient spends in one health state (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 331). Finally, it can be challenging to build decision trees for complex chronic diseases, as the tree will become very bushy (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 331).

#### Markov model

A Markov model resolves some of the limitations of the decision tree. First, this model is characterized by multiple health states a patient can be in at a specific time (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 331). Unlike a decision tree, in a Markov model, time plays an essential role in all events happening during a cycle (Drummond et al., 2015, 332). Cycles are defined as the probability of a patient being in a specific health state evaluated over a series of discrete time periods (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 332). Depending on the nature of the intervention studied, the researcher can choose how long they want their cycles to be, from one month to a year. Transition probabilities determine

how patients move between health states (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 332). Finally, each health state has certain costs and outcomes. In the case of QALYs, each state has a specific HRQoL weight (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 332). The final costs and outcomes are calculated depending on how long patients occupy the different states. A hypothetical Markov model is illustrated by *Figure 4*.



Figure 4: A hypothetical Markov model

#### Markov tree

A Markov tree, which has been used in this research, represents a combination between a decision tree and a Markov model (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 333). This model type has a decision tree structure, with chance nodes and branches representing different pathways. However, unlike a decision tree, a Markov tree has multiple health states that the simulated patients can transition between based on the transition probabilities. Moreover, it has a time dimension, with events happening only at the beginning of one cycle. Markov models are memoryless, meaning that the model cannot trace back a patient's trajectory between health states. The Markov tree also has possible costs and rewards or utility weights for each branch.

# **3.4 Measuring effectiveness**

#### Measuring health benefits

As mentioned above, health and, consequently, health outcomes can be measured in different ways in economic evaluations. The first method is to collect data from clinical studies and measure the health gain produced by an intervention (Drummond et al., 2015, p.124). This type of measurement is useful for health interventions that have only one major objective. For example, a therapy intended to prolong one's life can be measured in life-years gained. Hence, this type of measurement can be helpful for decision-makers when they are choosing between health interventions in the same health field and with the same health objective (Drummond et al., 2015, p.124). However, interventions with different objectives cannot be compared using the measuring method (Drummond et al., 2015, p.124). For example, a treatment that measures its health outcomes in the number of severe asthma episodes cannot be compared with the intervention that measures life-years gained.

A second way of measuring health outcomes is by using a generic health measurement. This represents a comprehensive measurement as it does not only include the time a person spends in a health state but also the person's preference for being in that health state. QALY is the most used generic measurement of health. The quality of life can be measured for a specific health condition, such as asthma, or the general population (Drummond et al., 2015, p.126). the quality of life is usually measured through standardized surveys or questionaries administered to the population of interest.

#### Measuring costs

In health economic evaluations, costs are usually measured in monetary terms. However, what type of costs are included in an economic evaluation depends on the perspective adopted by the researchers. There are two main perspectives in healthcare evaluation: the provider and the societal perspective (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 219). The first one should include only costs that directly affect the provision of healthcare (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 215, p. 219). Hence, direct costs usually include the actual medical costs of an intervention, such as the cost of medical equipment and hourly medical wage.

A societal perspective is concerned with both direct and indirect costs. Hence, while it includes the direct medical costs, it also includes hidden costs that don't directly affect the healthcare provider as they are supported by the patient (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 219). For example, the cost the patient must pay on transportation to the hospital or the hourly wage the patient loses while being in the hospital.

#### Discounting

In the case of many healthcare interventions, including HPV screening, the health benefits are not always obtained at the current moment but in future periods. However, these interventions have costs at the present time. This is because these resources invested in the screening could have been invested in other parts of the economy that would offer an immediate positive rate of return (Drummond et al., 2015, p.108). Hence, costs in the near future have a higher value than those in the more distant future (Drummond et al., 2015, p.108). Therefore, there needs to be a common period where all costs can be expressed. Usually, costs are discounted to the present value based on the time they are inquired and discounted with a discount rate that reflects the real rates of return (Drummond et al., 2015, p.108).

## ICER

Finally, a measurement of cost-effectiveness that was used in this research is the incremental costeffectiveness ratio (ICER). The ICER is defined as the extra cost per another unit of effect from the more effective strategy (Briggs et al., 2006, p.5). It is calculated using the following formula:

$$ICER = \frac{Cost2 - Cost}{Outcome2 - Outcome1}$$

The way ICERs of different interventions are compared can be illustrated by the cost-effectiveness plane shown in *Figure 5* (Drummond et al., 2015, p.55). For example, if we have a base-case strategy named O and a competing strategy called A, we can tell which strategy has a dominant ICER depending on its position in the four quadrants. If the ICER of A is in quadrant II, it dominates strategy O, as it costs less and produces more health outcomes. However, the opposite is true if the ICER of A is quadrant IV. Then, strategy A is dominated by O as it costs more and

produces fewer health outcomes. If A is in quadrants I or III, the most cost-effective strategy depends on the decision maker's willingness to pay (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 55). For example, many countries, such as the United Kingdom, have an official state willingness to pay per QALY, which acts as guidelines for assessing intervention cost-effectiveness in healthcare. For example, the willingness to pay threshold in the United Kingdom is 20,000-30,000 pounds per QALY (Drummond et al., 2015, p.56). Hence, if strategy A is in the first quadrant and is below the WTP threshold, it can be regarded as the cost-effective choice.



Figure 5: Cost-effectiveness plane (Source: Drummond et al., 2015, p. 55)

The WTP can be calculated in multiple ways depending on one's scope and resources and consequently it varies depending on the country. Hence, some countries have calculated official WTP threshold that is used by both researchers and policymakers. Where there is no official threshold, researchers guide themselves based on the ICER of interventions that have already been adopted. Finally, WHO recommends that the WTP is three times GDP per capita (Drummond et al., 2015, p.56).

# **3.5 Dealing with uncertainty**

An essential feature of any economic evaluation model is uncertainty. Parameters such as costs and consequences can cause uncertainty in the model, as they might change and differ in real life. Consequently, the results of the study might not be accurate. For example, policy changes are frequently costly, as many resources are needed for structural change to happen (Drummond et al., 2015). Moreover, some changes might be irreversible or very expensive to change. Hence, uncertainty must be reduced as much as possible when making policy choices based on economic evaluations. To solve this issue, researchers must account for the study's uncertainty by performing different tests depending on the study's features.

#### Deterministic sensitivity analysis

A one-way sensitivity analysis is one of the most widespread methods of researching and presenting existing uncertainty. In this type of sensitivity analysis, each input parameter is varied one at a time to investigate its effect on the model outputs (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 393). In a one-way sensitivity analysis, the researcher varies the input parameter by a certain amount (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 393). For example, a parameter can be varied by the minimum and maximum values reported during data collection.

#### Probabilistic sensitivity analysis

PSA represents one of the most reliable methods of exploring parameter uncertainty. During a PSA, all parameters of interest are varied at the same time. When conducting a PSA, a statistical distribution is applied to all parameters, and then empirical distributions of the costs and consequences are generated by random sampling from the distributions (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 60). Hence, it is essential to assign the right type of distribution to each parameter. This should be an informed choice based on the nature of the parameter, how it was estimated, and the reported summary statistics (Drummond et al., 2015, p. 400). There are several statistical distributions that can be used in PSA. Two distributions that have been used in this are the gamma and beta distributions.

The gamma distribution is constrained to the interval of 0 and positive infinite and represents count data (Briggs et al., 2006, p.91). Because these are two of the main characteristics of costs, the gamma distribution is usually assigned to costs. In Amua and other software used for economic evaluations, the gamma distribution is parameterized as gamma ( $\alpha$ , $\beta$ ) (Briggs et al., 2006, p.91). The  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are defined by the following formulas:

$$\alpha = \frac{\overline{\mu}^2}{s^2}$$
;  $\beta = \frac{s^2}{\mu}$ 

The beta distribution has values between 0 and 1 and is characterized by the parameters  $\alpha$ =r and  $\beta$ =r-n (Briggs et al. 2006, p. 87). Therefore, it is used for binominal data such as transition probabilities or utilities.

# **3.6 Expected Value of Perfect Information and Expected Value of Perfect Parameter Information**

There is always a risk that even if we choose the best option given our current data, there is a chance that another option is more cost-effective once the uncertainty is eliminated (Briggs et al., 2006, p.170). Taking the wrong decision can result in both health and monetary costs. Hence, the probability of a wrong decision based on current data and the consequences of this decision determine the expected cost of uncertainty. The expected cost of uncertainty can be calculated with the estimated probability of error and the opportunity cost of error (Briggs et al., 2006, p.170). Because perfect information eliminates the probability of making the wrong decision, we can define the expected costs of uncertainty as the EVPI (Briggs, 2006, p.170). Therefore, the EVPI indicates the maximum value that can be gained from obtaining new information and reducing uncertainty. Hence, policymakers shouldn't pay more than the value of EVPI for acquiring new information.

The EVPPI is similar to the EVPI in the way it is calculated and interpreted. Once we know the EVPI, it is useful to know exactly which parameters might require further research and how much that should cost (Briggs et al., 2006, p.179). Therefore, it is calculated by subtracting the expected

value with the present information from the expected net-benefit with perfect information for the parameter (Briggs et al., 2006, p.180).

## 4. Methods and data

#### 4.1 Analytical overview

A model was built using an existing mathematical model of the natural history of HPV, to estimate the cost-effectiveness of organized screening vs no screening for HPV in Romania. In each scenario, incremental costs and benefits were calculated to compare the two strategies. Costs were measured using euros, and health benefits were measured using QALYs. The provider perspective was adopted in this study, which includes only direct costs. Both the costs and the health benefits were discounted by 3%, as recommended by WHO (2003, p.71). Finally, a strategy was considered cost-effective if it presented an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio under the willingness to pay threshold of 50,000 euros per QALY. Because Romania does not have an official WTP threshold, the US threshold has been chosen as it is one of the most used thresholds in international research (Grosse, 2008). In this research, only the high-risk HPV strands are analyzed, as these are the most likely to develop into cervical cancer.

When running the Markov model, events are assumed to happen only at the cycle's beginning or end. This can lead to overestimating or underestimating costs and QALYs, as in real life, events can happen randomly at any point in the cycle (Naimark et al., 2013). A half-cycle correction can be applied to the model to fix this issue. When applying half-cycle correction, Amua sets the value of the cost or utility parameter to a half-cycle value (Naimark et al., 2013, p. 961).

#### 4.2 Model description

A Markov tree was developed to simulate the natural history of high-risk HPV types, comparing the two strategies (Figure 1). There are 27 possible health states, each tree branch representing a possible event in the infection's development. The tree has two strategies: the baseline "No screening" and the competing alternative "Screening". A cohort of 10.000 women starting from age 16 until 100 was simulated. Each woman continuously moved throughout the model, according to the age-dependent transition probabilities, until they reached an end state. It was assumed that

at all times, the women were in one of the 27 health states. Each cycle lasted for one year, and the model's time horizon was a lifetime.

# 4.3 The natural history of HPV



*Fig.6A: Natural history of hrHPV strands Fig.6B:Tunnel state for the post-diagnosis cancer state Figure 6* 

All women entered the model illustrated in *Figure 6A* at the age of 16 in the first health state, healthy. From this health state, they had an age-dependent probability of acquiring the HPV infection or remaining healthy. The three health states they could progress to were CIN1, CIN2 and CIN3. The women could progress or regress between these health states according to the age-specific probabilities. Probabilities were age specific because the HPV incidence and regression greatly depend on age. Finally, women could develop cancer, which was divided into three health states: local, regional, and distant. Once they entered this health state, they could not regress but only progress to the final three health states. Women with undiagnosed cancer were assumed to progress through the three cancer states until they died from cancer or other causes.

In both strategies, there was a chance that women could detect cancer through symptoms. Alternatively, in the "Screening" strategy, a woman could get screened and thus cancer could be detected. Once cancer was detected, women moved to one of the cancer post-diagnosis health states. These health states were modelled as tunnel states, which allowed us to add "memory" to the model (Briggs, 2006, p.58). In these reoccurring states, the rewards, costs and probabilities depended on the patient's history. For example, a patient with local cancer for two years might have a different mortality rate than one with cancer for four years.

If a woman was diagnosed with local cancer, she moved to the first year of local cancer postdiagnosis, illustrated in *Figure 6B*. It was assumed that she received the proper treatment for local cancer in this health state. If she did not die from cancer or other causes, she would progress to the state of second-year local cancer post-diagnosis. It was assumed that women could be in one of these health states for only one year, after which they moved to the next tunnel state or exited the model. This process could continue for a maximum of five years in this model.

The tunnel states are essential in capturing the effects of this study, respectively QALYs. The moment cervical cancer is detected is crucial for the quality and length of a patient's life. For example, if a woman detects her cancer in a local state, she will undergo a very different treatment. As a result, she will have much higher chances of survival and quality of life than if she detects her cancer in a distant stage.

The three final health states from which women could not return to the model: surviving cancer, death from other causes and death from cancer. Women entered the "survived cancer" health state if they survived five years while having cancer. Because the mortality rate from cancer decreases with time, the model only monitored the women for five years, after which they existed the model. They could not reenter the model because women diagnosed with cervical cancer must be monitored differently. In addition, some of them might undergo treatments such as cervix removal surgery that will not allow them to rejoin the "healthy" state.

#### 4.4 The screening and treatment protocol

WHO (2021) recommend HPV DNA testing as the primary screening method, as it is the most efficient in detecting high-risk HPV types (World Health Organization, 2021). Given the current recommendations and the relevance of this method to the scope of this research, HPV DNA testing was used as the screening method in this model.

Since both the WHO and most European guidelines recommend starting HPV DNA screening at 30, this was also used as the starting age for this model (WHO, 2021; Wang et al., 2022). On the other hand, research is inconclusive on the best age to stop screening. While some research suggests that screening after 65 is no longer efficient, other studies show that women over 65 are just as likely as younger women to develop cervical cancer (Dilley et al., 2021). Since Romania is a European state, the European guidelines were followed (Wang et al., 2022). Hence, the screening stopped at 65 in the model.

Finally, both WHO and most European guidelines recommend screening with HPV DNA every five years (WHO, 2021; Wang et al., 2022). This practice was adopted in the model as well.

According to the current international screening guidelines, patients who receive a positive HPV DNA test will undergo a colposcopy (National Health Services, 2022; WHO, 2021). This model assumed that the colposcopy was 100% accurate and that all patients fully complied with the entire screening and treatment procedure. Hence, the women with a true positive test discovered their true health state after the colposcopy and underwent treatment.

Regarding the specificity and sensitivity of the HPV DNA test, results from various research differ. The values used in this paper are form Mustafa et al. (2016), who did a systematic literature review of the accuracy of three different HPV screening methods. By pooling together five different studies, they found an estimated sensitivity of 95% and specificity of 84% (Mustafa et al, 2016).

## 4.5 Data

The data for the transition probabilities were selected based on a literature review. Most probabilities in the model were chosen from the research done by Canfell & al. (2004) in the UK context. As younger women tend to have more HPV infections that regress without treatment, the probabilities from HPV infection to CIN and between different CIN stages were age dependent. The cancer detection and progression probabilities were from an existing mathematical model of the natural history of HPV infection (Campos et al, 2014).

Utility weights were used to calculate the QALY and were supposed to reflect the quality of life of a person in a certain health state. For example, in this model a healthy person had a utility weight of 1, while a death was assigned a 0 utility. Through utility weights we measured a person's quality of life, on a scale from 0 to 1, with 1 being healthy and 0 death. The value and source of the utility data are listed in *Table 1*.

Health state	Value of the utility weight	Source
Healthy	1	
Infected cervix	0.92	Ju X, Canfell K, Howard K,
		Garvey G, Hedges J, Smith M,
		et al. (2021)
CIN1	Age 16-40 : 0.9	Ju X, Canfell K, Howard K,
	Age 16-100: 0.91	Garvey G, Hedges J, Smith M,
		et al. (2021)

Table 1. Utility parameters used in the model

CIN2	0.9	Ju X, Canfell K, Howard K,
		Garvey G, Hedges J, Smith M,
		et al. (2021)
CIN3	0.9	Ju X, Canfell K, Howard K,
		Garvey G, Hedges J, Smith M,
		et al. (2021)
Cancer local	Age 16-40: 0.83	Ju X, Canfell K, Howard K,
	Age 41-100: 0.84	Garvey G, Hedges J, Smith M,
		et al. (2021)
Cancer regional	Age 16-40: 0.68	Ju X, Canfell K, Howard K,
	Age 40-100: 0.70	Garvey G, Hedges J, Smith M,
		et al. (2021)
Cancer distant	Age 16-40: 0.68	Ju X, Canfell K, Howard K,
	Age 40-100: 0.70	Garvey G, Hedges J, Smith M,
		et al. (2021)
Survive cancer	0.74	K. Robin Yabroff, William F. Lawrence, Steven Clauser, William W. Davis, Martin L. Brown (2004)
Post diagnosis HPV Infection	0.95	
Death	0	

As this research adopts a healthcare perspective, only direct medical costs were used in the basecase. Therefore, the costs reflect the final value of an HPV DNA test, a colposcopy, HPV infection treatment and cancer treatment.

After a literature search no official data on medical costs were found. Therefore, costs for the HPV DNA test, the colposcopy and the conization procedure were taken from private hospitals. The cheapest price was selected but most hospitals have the same prices with differences being of maximum 10 euros. This was considered to be a suitable substitute given lack of official data, as

in Romania private and public hospitals work in a hybrid regime, with the national insurance covering some services offered by private clinics.

Moreover, no official information exists on the cost of treating cervical cancer in Romania. The only information on this subject comes from the study "Povara cancerului in Romania si impactul sau asupra economiei" by Clara Volintiriu, presented at the conference "Health- a source of competition: Investing in the sanitary system and the benefits of healthy life to the economy." (Bechir, 2021). According to this study, treatment of a cancer patient costs at least 10.000 ron which is approximately 2026 euros. Because as cancer progresses, the costs of treatment also increase, 1000 euros was added to each cancer stage.

The price for the HPV DNA test and the cancer treatment in scenarios two and four are taken from Swedish healthcare system (Fogelberg et al., 2020). The productivity loss from dying prematurely of cancer in Romania is 51,683 euros (Hanly & Soerjomataram, 2022).

Cost of	Value of cost (in euros)
HPV DNA test	65
Colposcopy	96
Conization for HPV infection	49
Treatment for local cancer	2,026
Treatment for regional cancer	3,026
Treatment for distant cancer	4,026
HPV DNA test (scenarios two and four)	26
Treatment for local cancer (scenario four)	27,579
Treatment for regional cancer (scenario four)	52,774
Treatment for distant cancer (scenario four)	62,925
Premature mortality cost	51,683

Table 2. Overview of costs

Age-dependent mortality rates for women in Romania were taken from Eurostat (2023), the main European organization responsible for gathering official data for EU states. To adapt the model to

the Romanian context, the HPV prevalence was taken from the study by Ilisiu et al. (2019), in which the overall high-risk HPV prevalence for all age groups was 16.9%. In addition, the study includes women of different ethnicities from multiple regions of the country, being representative data for the entire country.

#### 4.6 Scenario analysis

Because most costs are not from official studies, we wanted to test how uncertainty can impact and change the results. Hence, four different scenarios were analyzed to comprehensively understand the "Screen" strategy's cost-effectiveness. Firstly, the base-case scenario was run using only the direct costs with the values found at the present moment for Romania.

Secondly, after a literature search, it was found that countries with organized screening have lower HPV DNA test prices, even if these countries are economically more developed than Romania. This can be explained through the market economy. Because a state buys a large amount of tests, the cost per test becomes lower. Moreover, wages in private hospitals tend to be higher than in public ones, driving the price of the test up. So, a scenario with a lower price per test was simulated.

In the third scenario, the productivity loss from dying prematurely from cancer was added, to show the societal impact. Productivity losses were not added in the initial base-case analysis as it may be argued that use of such indirect costs in CEA can be unfair and inequitable, as older or retired people generally present a lower value than younger people actively working. Therefore, it would make health interventions for older people less cost-effective than for younger people, creating discriminatory results.

However, productivity losses have an important impact on the healthcare system, as taxes primarily fund health in Romania. Moreover, studies show that cervical cancer is mainly developed between the ages of 30 and 50, and the screening will stop at age 65 (Montalvo et al., 2011, p. 701). In Romania, the retirement age for women is 61. Hence, these represent ages when most people are active at the workplace and in society (European Commission). Therefore, it seems that

productivity losses from premature death can significantly impact the cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer screening, and to explore this potential impact, it was included in this scenario.

Lastly, in the fourth scenario, the cost of the HPV DNA test has a lower value, while the cost of treating cancer has a higher value. The productivity loss from premature cervical cancer death was also added. As discussed in the data section on page X, official cost data is not available. However, previous studies in other countries, such as Sweden, did show that treating cancer is significantly more expensive than what has been assumed based on the available data for Romania. Because of such a significant economic difference between Romania and countries like Sweden, these costs were not used in the base-case scenario. However, this scenario will be run to explore how higher cancer treatment costs, productivity losses, and lower test costs from organized screening would affect the ICER.

#### 4.7 Sensitivity analyses and EVPI

This paper has drawn data on all the parameters from multiple sources, making sensitivity analysis the appropriate solution. During a sensitivity analysis, the different parameters are varied to assess their impact on the results (Drummond, 2015, p.57). In this paper multiple one-way sensitivity analyses and a PSA were carried out. For the one-way sensitivity analysis, the cost parameters were varied +/-50%, while the prevalence, sensitivity and specificity were varied with the minimum and maximum values reported by the source research. In this case of the PSA, the Gamma distribution was applied for the cost parameters, as this is a discrete and always positive type of data. Because the transition probabilities and the utility weights represent binominal data, the Beta distribution was assigned. Each probability parameter was assigned a value between 0 and 1.

The EVPI informs us on how much more economic benefits we could earn by acquiring more information and reducing the uncertainty in the model. It also indicates the maximum amount that should be spend on future research. It is calculated using the estimated probability of error and the opportunity cost of error (Briggs, 2006, p.170). The EVPPI is similar to the EVPI in the way it is

calculated and interpreted, but it only informs us about the benefits and costs of acquiring more information for a specific parameter.

# 4.8 Software

The software used to create and run the model is called Amua. It is a free software described as being "an open-source modeling framework and probabilistic programming language" (Ward, 2019).

# 5. Results

#### 5.1 Base-case scenario



Figure 7: Base-case cost-effectiveness analysis

*Table 3* and *Figure 7* show the results of the base-case scenario. The "Screening" strategy has significantly higher costs than the "No screening" strategy. It costs 2700 euros per woman in a lifetime, while the "No screening" strategy costs 6,38 euros per woman. However, the "Screening" strategy also produces more QALYs than its comparator. While the baseline strategy produces 26,5067 QALYs per woman, the alternative strategy produces 26,5775 QALYs. Therefore, this scenario has an ICER of 37,829 euros, which is below the 50,000 euros threshold.

Strategy	Cost	Cost	Incremental	Outcome	QALYs	Incremental	Cost	ICER
	(euros)	per	cost	(QALYs)	per	outcome	Effectiveness	(I.C./I.O.)
		woman	(I.C.)		woman	(I.O.)	Ratio	
No								
screening	63,800	6,38		265,067	26,5067		0,24069386	
Screening	27,000,000	2,700	26,936,200	265,775	26,5775	708	101,589691	37,829

Table 3. Base-case cost-effectiveness analysis

## 5.2 Scenario two

The second scenario has the same parameters as the base-case, but a lower HPV DNA test price. For this scenario, the cost of the "Screening" strategy is 2560 euros per woman, while the "No screening" cost remain 6,38. The QALY results are still 26,5067 per woman for the baseline strategy and 26,5775 for the competing strategy. The ICER is 35,342.

Table 4. Scenario analysis – lower HPV DNA price

Strategy	Cost	Cost	Incremental	Outcome	QALYs	Incremental	Cost	ICER
	(euros)	per	cost	(QALYs)	per	outcome	Effectiveness	(I.C./I.O.)
		woman	(I.C.)		woman	(I.O.)	Ratio	
No	63 800	6 38		265.067	26 5067		0 24069386	
screening	05,000	0,50		203,007	20,5007		0,24007500	
screening								
G	25 (00 000	25(0	25 526 200	265 775	26 5775	709	06 2220760	25 242
Screening	25,600,000	2560	25,550,200	205,775	20,5775	/08	96,3220769	35,342

# 5.3 Scenario three

The third scenario has the same parameters as the base-case one, but we added the productivity loss from premature cervical cancer death. In this case, the "No screening" strategy has lower costs

than the "Screening", respectively, 2000 and 3400 euros per woman and per lifetime. However, "Screening" produces 26,5775 QALYs per women, while "No screening" produces 26,5067 QALYs. The ICER in this scenario is 20,039 euros, still under the WTP threshold.

Strategy	Cost	Cost	Incremental	Outcome	QALYs	Incremental	Cost	ICER
	(euros)	per	cost	(QALYs)	per	outcome	Effectiveness	(I.C./I.O.)
		woman	(I.C.)		woman	(I.O.)	Ratio	
No screening	20,000,000	2,000		265,067	26,5067		75,4526214	
Screening	34,000,000	3,400	14,000,000	265,775	26,5775	708	127,927758	20,039

Table 5. Scenario analysis - inclusion of productivity losses

#### 5.4 Scenario four

In the final scenario a lower price for the HPV DNA test was assumed, higher costs for treating cancer and the productivity loss from premature cancer death was included. The costs for "No screening" were 2900 euros per woman in a lifetime, while for the "Screening" strategy it was 3800 euros. The outcomes stayed the same as in the other scenarios. Finally, the ICER is 13,310 euros, which is under the 50,000 euros threshold.

Strategy	Cost	Cost	Incremental	Outcome	QALYs	Incremental	Cost	ICER
	(euros)	per	cost	(QALYs)	per	outcome	Effectiveness	(I.C./I.O.)
		woman	(I.C.)		woman	(I.O.)	Ratio	
No screening	29,000,000	2,900		265,067	265,067		109,406301	
Screening	38,000,000	3,800	9,000,000	265,775	26,5775	708	142,978083	13,310

Table 6. Scenario analysis: higher treatment costs plus productivity losses

# 5.5 One-way sensitivity analysis

*Table* 7 presents the results of one-way sensitivity analysis for the input parameters. All parameters led to a change in the ICER. Parameters such as the cost of local and distant cancer treatments had relatively low changes in the ICER, while the cost of the colposcopy resulted in the biggest ICER range, with a difference of 150% between the minimum and the maximum value.

Parameter name Base estimates ICER Prevalence 16.9% 33,500-37,200 (10.4%)34,800-37,400 Sensitivity 95% (7.47%)28,000-43,000 Specificity 84% (54%) Cost test HPV DNA 65 35,345-35,420 (0.21%) Cost colposcopy 97 20,000-50,000

Table 7. Results from one-way sensitivity analysis

		(150%)
Cost HPV conization	49	35,340-35,430
		(0.40%)
Cost treatment cancer local	2026	35,355-35,415
		(0.17%)
Cost treatment cancer regional	3026	30,500-35,500
		(16,39%)
Cost treatment cancer distant	4026	35,370-35,396
		(0.07%)

# 5.6 Probabilistic Sensitivity Analysis

*Figure 8* is the cost effectiveness acceptability curve which presents the result of the PSA. Axis X shows the range of values for WTP thresholds starting from 0 to 140,000 euros, while Axis Y shows the probability that a strategy is cost effective, from 0 to 1 being the most effective. It can be seen that the higher the WTP, the more cost effective the "Screen" strategy is. It seems that starting from the threshold of around 70,000 euros, the "Screen" strategy is the cost effective one, reaching its maximum efficiency around the threshold of 140,000 euros. *Figure 8* shows that for a WTP threshold of 50,000 euros, the "No screening" strategy has higher chances of being cost-effective.



Figure 8: CEAC

#### 5.7 EVPI and EVPPI

The EVPI of this study is 20 million euros. *Figure* 9 shows the information (EVPPI) for the cost parameters. The EVPPI for local cancer treatment is 8,089,880 euros. For the cost of regional cancer, it is 7,365,321 euros and for distant cancer it is of 6,666,112 euros. The cost of the HPV DNA test has an EVPPI of 6,709,016, while the cost of the conization intervention is 5,982,388. The colposcopy presents the highest value of 10 million euros.



Figure 9: EVPPI results

## 6. Discussion

The CEA shows that screening with the HPV DNA test is cost-effective, presenting an ICER below the 50,000 WTP threshold in all the scenarios. Moreover, if we would used the method recommended by WHO to calculate the WTP threshold, for Romania it would be 44,000 euros. Hence, the ICERs would still be under our WTP threshold. These results seems to align with the recommendation of WHO and confirmed studies that found it to be one of the most cost-effective strategies (Goldie, Kim & Wright, 2004; Kim, Wright & Goldie, 2005; Andrés-Gamboa et al., 2008). The difference between the ICERs in the scenarios shows how essential it is to have exact cost measurements. Just by reducing the test cost, the ICER fell by 2487 euros. The CEA confirmed the assumption that productivity losses have an important effect on the ICER, as the ICER was substantially lower in both the third and fourth scenarios. The last scenario presented the lowest ICER of 13,310, indicating that HPV DNA testing can be more cost-effective than in the base case scenario if the test price is lowered, productivity losses are accounted for and the full costs of cancer treatment are considered. Moreover, when running the 10.000 women cohort, the "No screening" strategy resulted in 44 deaths from cervical cancer, while the "Screening" strategy led to 16 cancer deaths. Hence, introducing "Screening" led to the prevension of 28 deaths in our cohort.

For our threshold of 50,000 euros, there is a low probability of around 45% of HPV DNA testing being cost-effective. Moreover, at that threshold, there is a higher probability of the "No Screening" strategy being cost-effective, almost 60%. As the WTP increases, so does the cost-effectiveness of HPV DNA testing, becoming the dominant strategy around the threshold of 70,000 euros. However, this WTP might be too costly for Romanian society. Overall, the CEA and PSA combined results indicate that HPV DNA testing can be a cost-effective strategy, depending on one's WTP.

The one-way sensitivity analysis showed varying levels of uncertainty in the parameters. Some parameters, such as cancer treatment costs, produce relatively few changes in the ICER. In comparison, the cost of colposcopy and the specificity had a very big impact on the ICER, implying that more data and research is needed. This is also supported by the results of the EVPI and EVPPI,

which shows that more accurate information could bring benefits of 20 million euros. Moreover, there are high additional benefits to getting more accurate information on each cost parameter.

#### 6.1 Implications for policy and further research

This research indicates that HPV DNA testing could be cost-effective for Romania, depending on the WTP. This threshold was chosen based on past international studies, but this varies greatly depending on a country's economy and healthcare system. Therefore, further research to determine a suitable WTP for Romania could significantly impact researchers' and policymakers' recommendations and decisions.

Moreover, the different scenarios showed that the value of the costs greatly influences the costeffectiveness of the "Screening" strategy. Hence, future research must be carried out on the exact value of the medical costs to reduce uncertainty and find the most cost-effective screening strategy for Romania. For example, introducing higher cancer treatment costs in the fourth scenario reduced the ICER. Hence, further research reporting the exact cost of cervical cancer treatment in Romania would allow for developing less uncertain CEA studies. Furthermore, the EVPPI results also showed additional value in obtaining more information, and data such as cancer treatment can be obtained in the same study, reducing the costs of obtaining information.

Accounting for indirect costs caused a significant change in the ICER. Because of the nature of HPV, which mainly affects young women, it seems crucial to consider these types of costs as well when analyzing the cost-effectiveness of HPV-related interventions. Therefore, future research that includes a societal perspective as well should be done.

Finally, it could be investigated if a different screening protocol would be more cost-effective. For example, perhaps the Pap test might be a better choice for Romania, as it is more affordable or a co-screening strategy with HPV DNA testing, and the Pap test could be examined. Moreover, the government has announced new measures for increasing vaccination rates (Pratama, 2023). Hence,

a new generation of vaccinated women might require a new screening protocol. Further research can clarify which screening protocol would be the most cost-effective for a population with high HPV vaccination rates.

#### **6.2 Related research**

Results from related research in Eastern Europe have shown that HPV DNA testing is usually costeffective when combined with another prevention method, such as the Pap test or vaccination. For example, A CEA of different screening protocols in Slovenia have found a combination of the Pap test and HPV DNA testing after 30 to be the most cost-effective choice (Jansen et al., 2021). The protocol studied in this paper was the second-best option with an ICER of 45,406 euros with HPV DNA testing every five years from the age of 30 until 65. Similarly, a study focusing on Central and Eastern Europe found that the most cost-effective prevention strategy in countries like Poland is vaccination combined with an HPV DNA test every ten years (Berkhof et al., 2013). However, de Kok et al. (2012) studied the cost-effectiveness of HPV screening in different scenarios and found that primary cytology is more cost-effective for countries like Romania, with lower resources.

Overall, this study's results seem to align with the existing studies in the region, indicating that HPV DNA testing could be cost-effective depending on the resources available. Furthermore, cytology screening could also be effective on its own or in combination with HPV DNA; as stated above, more research is needed on the data and the different screening scenarios.

#### **6.3 Limitations**

There are a few limitations to this research that need to be taken into consideration. First of all, the costs are not from an official data source. The actual costs of treating cervical cancer are probably much higher in reality than the ones used in the base-case scenario, especially in the regional and distant stages. However, Romanian Government officials have unveiled plans to establish a National Cancer Register in 2024, which may include official cervical cancer costs, enabling more certain future research (Lazar, 2023).

Secondly, the medical costs in the base-case scenario come from analyzing private clinics' prices and not from public hospitals. Therefore, even if the costs can be similar, it is still uncertain what the exact costs are in a public hospital. For example, with organized screening, the state could buy substantial amounts of tests that can significantly lower the price of each test. Hence, obtaining more accurate data would reduce the uncertainty in the model, giving a more precise answer on the most cost-effective strategy for HPV screening in Romania.

A third limitation of this study is that there is not 100% compliance with the screening and treatment procedure in real life. Patients often don't get screened or comply with the treatment scheme because they find the costs or effort too much. For example, coming to the doctor's office could require a day off work or hiring someone to look after their children. Therefore, it might be that the QALYs have a different value if not all women comply. Still, the state can ensure a high compliance rate by educating women and giving them incentives such as paid holidays to get screened. For example, in Stockholm, sending women self-testing HPV kits at home led to an increase of 10% in screening compliance (World Health Organization, 2022).

Fourthly, in this model, the screening in the "No screening" strategy was assumed to be 0%. However, in real life, people engage in opportunistic screening by getting screened privately. Previous studies have shown that this type of screening can cause harm and makes all screening less cost-effective, as it does not promote equity and has no quality assurance (Arbyn et al., 2009). Consequently, implementing an organized screening protocol can make the strategy studied here even more cost-effective (Jansen et al., 2021, p.125).

Finally, the utility weights for being in an HPV-related health state were used in both strategies. However, this does not accurately reflect reality, as people in the "No screening" strategy do not have any symptoms before developing cancer. Hence, in reality, they would not present the HPV-related utility weight. To perfect the conceptualization of the health utility, further research needs to be done on the health utilities of the general Romanian population and the population affected by HPV.

## 6.4 Strength of the research

Despite its limitation, this research does fill a gap in the literature, as there are no economic evaluations of HPV screening in Romania. Furthermore, as discussed in the introduction, Romania is an extreme case in the EU, with a big HPV incidence and cervical cancer mortality. Therefore, it is important to start researching this subject and find the most fitting solutions. This research does offer insight into the HPV situation in Romania and the feasibility of HPV DNA testing in different scenarios. Moreover, this paper identified topics of future research that are essential for carrying out future economic evaluations.

# 7. Conclusion

To conclude, HPV is a viral infection that affects women all over the world. In Romania, it is a significant public health concern as its link to cervical cancer causes a high mortality rate. However, this mortality can be prevented through screening and vaccination, as practices in other EU countries have shown. The results of this paper have shown that HPV DNA testing can be the cost-effective choice for Romania, depending on the available resources and the WTP of decision-makers. Still, there is uncertainty in the model which indicates that further research is needed, especially on the data. Because policy change is expensive, it should only be made based on accurate data and precise research results. Hence, in this situation, there is much value in obtaining more information.

#### References

- Andrés-Gamboa, O., Chicaíza, L., García-Molina, M., Díaz, J., González, M., Murillo, R.,
  Ballesteros, M., & Sánchez, R. (2008). Cost-effectiveness of conventional cytology and
  HPV DNA testing for cervical cancer screening in Colombia. *Salud publica de Mexico*, 50(4), 276–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/s0036-36342008000400005</u>
- Arbyn, M., Rebolj, M., De Kok, I. M., Fender, M., Becker, N., O'Reilly, M., & Andrae, B. (2009).
  The challenges of organising cervical screening programmes in the 15 old member states of the European Union. *European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990)*, 45(15), 2671–2678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2009.07.016
- Bajracharya, A. (2017). Cervical Cancer Screening in Low Resource Settings: A Cost Effectiveness Analysis in Nepalese Context [Master Thesis, University of Oslo]. https://www.duo.uio.no/bitstream/handle/10852/57313/Aastha-Bajracharya-Master-Thesis-2017.pdf?sequence=1
- Barnabas R. & Garnett G. (2004). The potential public health impact of vaccines against human papillomavirus. *European Consortium for Cervical Cancer Education*
- Bechir, M., (2021). Cancerul din PIB: 3% doar din "cohorta de pacienti" a unui singur an. Cifrele socante ale oncologiei in Romania. *Cursdeguvernare*. Available at: https://cursdeguvernare.ro/cancerul-din-pib-3-doar-din-cohorta-de-pacienti-a-unuisingur-an-cifrele-socante-ale-oncologiei-in-romania.html
- Bedell, S. L., Goldstein, L. S., Goldstein, A. R., & Goldstein, A. T. (2020). Cervical Cancer Screening: Past, Present, and Future. *Sexual medicine reviews*, 8(1), 28–37
  . https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.sxmr.2019.09.005
- Berkhof, J., Bogaards, J. A., Demirel, E., Diaz, M., Sharma, M., & Kim, J. J. (2013). Costeffectiveness of cervical cancer prevention in Central and Eastern Europe and Central Asia. *Vaccine*, *31 Suppl 7*, H71–H79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.04.086
- Briggs, A., Sculpher, M., & Claxton, K. (2006). Decision modelling for health economic evaluation. Oup Oxford.
- Campos, N. G., Burger, E. A., Sy, S., Sharma, M., Schiffman, M., Rodriguez, A. C., Hildesheim, A., Herrero, R., & Kim, J. J. (2014). An updated natural history model of cervical cancer: derivation of model parameters. *American journal of epidemiology*, 180(5), 545–555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu159</u>

Cancer Research UK. (2020). *What are abnormal cervical cells?*. Available at: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/cervical-cancer/treatment-for-abnormal-</u> cervical-cells/what-are-abnormal-cervical-cells

- Canfell, K., Barnabas, R., Patnick, J., & Beral, V. (2004). The predicted effect of changes in cervical screening practice in the UK: results from a modelling study. *British journal of cancer*, 91(3), 530–536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6602002</u>
- Coleman D, Day N, Douglas G et al. European Guidelines for Quality Assurance in Cervical Cancer Screening. Europe against cancer programme. Eur J Cancer 1993; 29A (Suppl 4): S1–S38.
- Craciun, C., Baban, A. (2012) "Who will take the blame?": Understanding the reasons why
  Romanian mothers decline HPV vaccination for their daughters, *Vaccine, Volume 30*(48):
  6789-6793, ISSN 0264-410X, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.09.016</u>.
- Chesson, H. W., Dunne, E. F., Hariri, S., & Markowitz, L. E. (2014). The estimated lifetime probability of acquiring human papillomavirus in the United States. *Sexually transmitted diseases*, 41(11), 660–664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/OLQ.00000000000193</u>
- Chrysostomou, A. C., Stylianou, D. C., Constantinidou, A., & Kostrikis, L. G. (2018). Cervical Cancer Screening Programs in Europe: The Transition Towards HPV Vaccination and Population-Based HPV Testing. *Viruses*, 10(12), 729. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v10120729</u>

Cleaveland Clinic (2022) Cervical Dysplasia. Available at:

https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/15678-cervical-intraepithelial-neoplasiacin . Accessed: 03 May 2023

- de Brux, J., Orth, G., Croissant, O., Cochard, B., & Ionesco, M. (1983). Lésions condylomateuses du col utérin: évolution chez 2 466 patientes [Condylomatous lesions of the uterine cervix: their course in 2466 patients]. *Bulletin du cancer*, 70(5), 410–422.
- de Kok, I. M., van Rosmalen, J., Dillner, J., Arbyn, M., Sasieni, P., Iftner, T., & van Ballegooijen, M. (2012). Primary screening for human papillomavirus compared with cytology screening for cervical cancer in European settings: cost effectiveness analysis based on a Dutch microsimulation model. BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 344, e670. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e670">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e670</a>

Dilley, S., Huh, W., Blechter, B., & Rositch, A. F. (2021). It's time to re-evaluate cervical Cancer

screening after age 65. *Gynecologic oncology*, 162(1), 200–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.04.027

- Drummond, M. F., Sculpher, M. J., Claxton, K., Stoddart, G. L., & Torrance, G. W.
   (2015). *Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes* (4<sup>th</sup> edition).
   Oxford university press.
- European Cancer Organisation. (2021). *HPV Vaccine Tracker*. Available at: <u>https://www.europeancancer.org/resources/199:hpv-vaccine-tracker.html</u>
- European Commission. (n.d.). *Romania-Old-age pension*. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1126&langId=en&intPageId=4754</u>
- European Parliament. (2018). *Romania, the country with the highest income inequality in the European Union*. Available at: <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/E-8-</u> 2018-001904\_EN.html
- Eurostat. (2023). *Mortality and life expectancy statistics*. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php?title=Mortality\_and\_life\_expectancy\_statistics
- Falcaro, M., Castañon, A., Ndlela, B., Checchi, M., Soldan, K., Lopez-Bernal, J., Elliss-Brookes, L., & Sasieni, P. (2021). The effects of the national HPV vaccination programme in England, UK, on cervical cancer and grade 3 cervical intraepithelial neoplasia incidence: a register-based observational study. *Lancet (London, England)*, 398(10316), 2084–2092. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02178-4
- Fogelberg, S., Clements, M. S., Pedersen, K., Sy, S., Sparén, P., Kim, J. J., & Burger, E. A. (2020).
  Cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer screening with primary HPV testing for unvaccinated women in Sweden. *PloS one*, *15*(9), e0239611.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239611
- Goldie, S. J., Kim, J. J., & Wright, T. C. (2004). Cost-effectiveness of human papillomavirus DNA testing for cervical cancer screening in women aged 30 years or more. *Obstetrics and* gynecology, 103(4), 619–631. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000120143.50098.c7
- Grigore, M., Teleman, S. I., Pristavu, A., & Matei, M. (2018). Awareness and Knowledge About HPV and HPV Vaccine Among Romanian Women. *Journal of cancer education : the* official journal of the American Association for Cancer Education, 33(1), 154–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-016-1130-2</u>

- Grosse, S.(2008). Assessing cost-effectiveness in healthcare: history of the \$50,000 per QALY threshold. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research*, 8(2):165-178, DOI: 10.1586/14737167.8.2.165
- Hanly, P., Ortega-Ortega, M., & Soerjomataram, I. (2022). Cancer Premature Mortality Costs in Europe in 2020: A Comparison of the Human Capital Approach and the Friction Cost Approach. *Current oncology (Toronto, Ont.)*, 29(5), 3552–3564. https://doi.org/10.3390/curroncol29050287
- Hildesheim, A., Schiffman, M. H., Gravitt, P. E., Glass, A. G., Greer, C. E., Zhang, T., Scott, D.
  R., Rush, B. B., Lawler, P., & Sherman, M. E. (1994). Persistence of type-specific human papillomavirus infection among cytologically normal women. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *169*(2), 235–240. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/169.2.235
- Ho, G. Y., Bierman, R., Beardsley, L., Chang, C. J., & Burk, R. D. (1998). Natural history of cervicovaginal papillomavirus infection in young women. *The New England journal of medicine*, 338(7), 423–428. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199802123380703
- Ilisiu, M. B., Hashim, D., Andreassen, T., Støer, N. C., Nicula, F., & Weiderpass, E. (2019). HPV Testing for Cervical Cancer in Romania: High-Risk HPV Prevalence among Ethnic Subpopulations and Regions. *Annals of global health*, 85(1), 89. https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.2502
- Jansen, E. E. L., Ivanuš, U., Jerman, T., de Koning, H. J., & de Kok, I. M. C. M. (2021). The optimal HPV-screening protocol in Eastern-Europe: The example of Slovenia. *Gynecologic oncology*, 160(1), 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2020.10.036
- Ju, X., Canfell, K., Howard, K., Garvey, G., Hedges, J., Smith, M., & Jamieson, L. (2021).
   Population-based utility scores for HPV infection and cervical squamous cell carcinoma among Australian Indigenous women. *PloS one*, *16*(7), e0254575. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254575
- Karafillakis, E., Simas, C., Jarrett, C., Verger, P., Peretti-Watel, P., Dib, F., De Angelis, S., Takacs, J., Ali, K. A., Pastore Celentano, L., & Larson, H. (2019). HPV vaccination in a context of public mistrust and uncertainty: a systematic literature review of determinants of HPV vaccine hesitancy in Europe. *Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics*, *15*(7-8), 1615–1627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2018.1564436</u>

- Kim, J. J., Wright, T. C., & Goldie, S. J. (2005). Cost-effectiveness of human papillomavirus DNA testing in the United Kingdom, The Netherlands, France, and Italy. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 97(12), 888–895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dji162</u>
- Koutsky, L. A., Holmes, K. K., Critchlow, C. W., Stevens, C. E., Paavonen, J., Beckmann, A. M., DeRouen, T. A., Galloway, D. A., Vernon, D., & Kiviat, N. B. (1992). A cohort study of the risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or 3 in relation to papillomavirus infection. *The New England journal of medicine*, 327(18), 1272–1278. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199210293271804
- Lazar, M. (2023). Alexandru Rafila: Registrul National de Cancer va fi infiintat in acest an. Digi
   24. Available at: <u>https://www.digi24.ro/stiri/actualitate/social/alexandru-rafila-registrul-</u>national-de-cancer-va-fi-infiintat-in-acest-an-2325955
- Loomes, G. & McKenzie, L. (1982) The Use of QALYs in Health Care Decision Making. *Social Science* & *Medicine* 28(4): 299-308. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/0277953689900300</u>
- Marinas, R. (2014). Romania sends former PM Nastase back to jail for corruption. Reuters.

   Available
   at:

   <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-romania-corruption-</u>

   idUKBREA050R320140106
- Melkert, P. W., Hopman, E., van den Brule, A. J., Risse, E. K., van Diest, P. J., Bleker, O. P., Helmerhorst, T., Schipper, M. E., Meijer, C. J., & Walboomers, J. M. (1993). Prevalence of HPV in cytomorphologically normal cervical smears, as determined by the polymerase chain reaction, is age-dependent. *International journal of cancer*, 53(6), 919–923. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910530609
- Molano, M., Van den Brule, A., Plummer, M., Weiderpass, E., Posso, H., Arslan, A., Meijer, C.
  J., Muñoz, N., Franceschi, S., & HPV Study Group (2003). Determinants of clearance of human papillomavirus infections in Colombian women with normal cytology: a population-based, 5-year follow-up study. *American journal of epidemiology*, 158(5), 486–494. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwg171
- Montalvo, M. T., Lobato, I., Villanueva, H., Borquez, C., Navarrete, D., Abarca, J., & Calaf, G.
  M. (2011). Prevalence of human papillomavirus in university young women. *Oncology letters*, 2(4), 701–706. <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2011.290</u>
- Moscicki, A. B., Shiboski, S., Broering, J., Powell, K., Clayton, L., Jay, N., Darragh, T. M.,

Brescia, R., Kanowitz, S., Miller, S. B., Stone, J., Hanson, E., & Palefsky, J. (1998). The natural history of human papillomavirus infection as measured by repeated DNA testing in adolescent and young women. *The Journal of pediatrics*, *132*(2), 277–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3476(98)70445-7

- Muenning, P. (2017). Decision Analytic Modeling, Editor(s): Stella R. Quah, International Encyclopedia of Public Health (Second Edition), Academic Press, Pages 211-216, ISBN 9780128037089, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803678-5.00099-0</u>.
- Mustafa, R. A., Santesso, N., Khatib, R., Mustafa, A. A., Wiercioch, W., Kehar, R., Gandhi, S., Chen, Y., Cheung, A., Hopkins, J., Ma, B., Lloyd, N., Wu, D., Broutet, N., & Schünemann, H. J. (2016). Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of the accuracy of HPV tests, visual inspection with acetic acid, cytology, and colposcopy, *International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics*, 132(3), 259–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.07.024
- Myers, E. R., McCrory, D. C., Nanda, K., Bastian, L., & Matchar, D. B. (2000). Mathematical model for the natural history of human papillomavirus infection and cervical carcinogenesis. *American journal of epidemiology*, 151(12), 1158–1171. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a010166
- Naimark, D. M., Kabboul, N. N., & Krahn, M. D. (2013). The half-cycle correction revisited:
   redemption of a kludge. *Medical decision making : an international journal of the Society for Medical Decision Making*, *33*(7), 961–970.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X13501558
- National Cancer Institute. (2022). HPV and Pap Test Results: Next Steps after an AbnormalCervicalCancerScreeningTest.Availableat:<a href="https://www.cancer.gov/types/cervical/screening/abnormal-hpv-pap-test-results">https://www.cancer.gov/types/cervical/screening/abnormal-hpv-pap-test-results</a>.Accessed on: 03 May 2023
- National Health Service. (2022). *What is a colonoscopy?*. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/colposcopy/
- Origoni, M., Cristoforoni, P., Costa, S., Mariani, L., Scirpa, P., Lorincz, A., & Sideri, M. (2012). HPV-DNA testing for cervical cancer precursors: from evidence to clinical practice. *Ecancermedicalscience*, 6, 258. <u>https://doi.org/10.3332/ecancer.2012.258</u>
- Paun, C. (2019). Thirty years after Romanian revolution, questions remain. Politico.

https://www.politico.eu/article/thirty-years-after-romanian-revolution-questions-remaindeath-of-nicolae-ceausescu/

- Peirson, L., Fitzpatrick-Lewis, D., Ciliska, D., & Warren, R. (2013). Screening for cervical cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Systematic reviews*, 2, 35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-2-35</u>
- Pratama, R. (2023). Romania's Health Ministry plans to reimburse HPV vaccine for women aged between 18 and 45. Romania-Insider. Available at: <u>https://www.romaniainsider.com/romanias-ministry-health-reimburse-hpv-vaccine-women-aged-between-18and-45</u>
- Prendiville W, Sankaranarayanan R. Colposcopy and Treatment of Cervical Precancer. Lyon (FR): International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2017. (IARC Technical Report, No. 45.) Chapter 11., Treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK568369/</u>
- Schlecht, N. F., Kulaga, S., Robitaille, J., Ferreira, S., Santos, M., Miyamura, R. A., Duarte-Franco, E., Rohan, T. E., Ferenczy, A., Villa, L. L., & Franco, E. L. (2001). Persistent human papillomavirus infection as a predictor of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *JAMA*, 286(24), 3106–3114. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.286.24.3106
- Schiffman, M., & Kjaer, S. K. (2003). Chapter 2: Natural history of anogenital human papillomavirus infection and neoplasia. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. *Monographs*, (31), 14–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jncimonographs.a00347</u>
- Seong, J., Ryou, S., Lee, J. *et al.* (2021) Enhanced disease progression due to persistent HPV-16/58 infections in Korean women: a systematic review and the Korea HPV cohort study. *Virol J* 18:188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-021-01657-2</u>
- Stanley, M. (2010). Pathology and epidemiology of HPV infection in females. Gynecologic Oncology, 117(2), S5–S10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2010.01.024</u>
- Statista (2023) *Romania: Life expectancy at birth from 2010 to 2020, by gender*. Avaible at: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/971097/life-expectancy-at-birth-in-romania-by-gender/</u>. Accesssed: 04 May 2023
- Syrjänen, K., Kataja, V., Yliskoski, M., Chang, F., Syrjänen, S., & Saarikoski, S. (1992). Natural history of cervical human papillomavirus lesions does not substantiate the biologic relevance of the Bethesda System. *Obstetrics and gynecology*, 79(5 (Pt 1)), 675–682.

Todor RD, Bratucu G, Moga MA, Candrea AN, Marceanu LG, Anastasiu CV. (2021) Challenges in the Prevention of Cervical Cancer in Romania, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 18(4):1721. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18041721</u>

UNICEF.(n.d.). Romania. Available at: https://data.unicef.org/country/rou/

Vlădescu, C., Scintee, S. G., Olsavszky, V., Hernandez-Quevedo, C., & Sagan, A. (2016). Romania: Health System Review. *Health systems in transition*, *18*(4), 1–170.

Waggoner S. E. (2003). Cervical cancer. *Lancet (London, England)*, *361*(9376), 2217–2225. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13778-6

- Wang, W., Arcà, E., Sinha, A., Hartl, K., Houwing, N., & Kothari, S. (2022). Cervical cancer screening guidelines and screening practices in 11 countries: A systematic literature review. *Preventive medicine reports*, 28, 101813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2022.101813
- Ward ZJ. (2019) Amua: An open source modeling framework. Available at: <u>https://github.com/zward/Amua</u>
- World Bank. (n.d). Rural population- Romania. Available at https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS?locations=RO
- World Bank. (2023, April). *The World Bank in Romania. Available at:* https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/romania/overview
- World Health Organization. (2003). *Who guide to cost-effectiveness analysis*. Available at: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42699/9241546018.pdf;jsessionid=3E2</u>E 1800AB2412DB3BCDCD2759E2164D?sequence=1
- World Health Organization. (2021). WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-<br/>cancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention, second edition: use of mRNA tests for human<br/>papillomavirus (HPV). Available at:<br/>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240040434
- World Health Organization. (2021). WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical precancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention; ANNEX 4, SEVEN ALGORITHMS PRIORITIZED FOR PHASE 1 OF THE GUIDELINE UPDATE. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK572308/
- World Health Organization. (2022). Global Market Study HPV. Available at:

https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/immunization/mi4a/who-hpv-vaccineglobal-market-study-april-2022.pdf?sfvrsn=6acb4c98\_1&download=true

- World Health Organization. (2022). *HPV self-sampling in Sweden leading to faster elimination of cervical cancer*. Available at: <u>https://www.who.int/europe/news/item/08-09-2022-hpv-self-sampling-in-sweden-leading-to-faster-elimination-of-cervical-cancer</u>
- Rais,C., Kaló, Z., Csanádi, M & Negulescu, V. (2020). Current and future perspectives for the implementation of health technology assessment in Romania, *Health Policy and Technology*,

9(1): 45-52, ISSN 2211-8837, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2019.11.007.

- Yabroff, K. R., Lawrence, W. F., Clauser, S., Davis, W. W., & Brown, M. L. (2004). Burden of illness in cancer survivors: findings from a population-based national sample. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 96(17), 1322–1330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djh255</u>
- Yokoyama, M., Iwasaka, T., Nagata, C., Nozawa, S., Sekiya, S., Hirai, Y., Kanazawa, K., Sato, S., Hoshiai, H., Sugase, M., Kawana, T., & Yoshikawa, H. (2003). Prognostic factors associated with the clinical outcome of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a cohort study in Japan. *Cancer letters*, 192(2), 171–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3835(02)00715-2

# Appendix

1. Table with the transition probabilities used in the model taken from the study by Canfell et al. (2004).

Parameter	Annual probability		Reference
Healthy to HPV infected	16-19	0.0855	Barnabas and Garnett,
cervix	20-24	0.2500	2004; Schiffman and Kjaer,
	25-29	0.1500	2003; Melkert et al, 1993
	30-34	0.0576	
	40-49	0.0333	
	50+	0.0222	
HPV infected cervix to	16-29	0.7000	Myers et al,
healthy	30+	0.4130	2000; Hildesheim et al,
			1994; Moscicki et al,
			1998; Koutsky et al,
			1992; Ho et al, 1998; Molano
			et al, 2003
HPV infected cervix to CIN1	0.0	959	Myers et al, 2000; Moscicki
or CIN2			et al, 1998
CIN1 to HPV infected cervix	16-34	0.2248	Myers et al, 2000; Yokoyama
	35+	0.1124	et al, 2003; Syrjanen et al,
	1.1.0.1		1992; de Brux et al, 1983
CIN1 to CIN2	16-34	0.0297	de Brux et al, 1983; Syrjanen
	35+	0.1485	et al, 1992; Myers et al, 2000
CIN1 to CIN3	0.0301		Yokoyama et al, 2003
CIN2 to HPV infected cervix	0.1901		Yokoyama et al, 2003
or healthy	0.0400		
CIN2 to CIN1	0.2430		Syrjanen et al, 1992
CIN2 to CIN3	16-34	0.0389	Syrjanen et al, 1992; de Brux
	35-44	0.0797	et al, 1983; Yokoyama et al,
	45+	0.1062	2003
CIN3 to HPV infected cervix	16-44	0.0135	Syrjanen et al, 1992
or healthy	45+	0.0100	
CIN3 to CIN1	0		Cantell et al., 2004
CIN3 to CIN2	0.0135		Cantell et al., 2004
CIN3 to cancer	0.0099		Syrjanen et al, 1992; Ostor,
	0.0171		1993; McIndoe et al, 1984
Symptom detection local	0.0174		Campos et al, 2014
cancer			
Local cancer to regional	0.020		Campos et al, 2014
cancer			
Symptom detection regional	0.0	135	Campos et al, 2014
cancer			

Regional cancer to distant	0.025	Campos et al, 2014
cancer		
Symptom detection cancer distant	0.1746	Campos et al, 2014

2. Table showing cancer mortality from the study by Campos et al. (2014)

Cancer type	Per year	Probability	Reference
Local cancer	Year 1	0.0016	Campos et al, 2014
	Year 2-3	0.0014	
	Year 4-5	0.0009	
Regional cancer	Year 1	0.0095	Campos et al, 2014
	Year 2-3	0.0078	
	Year 4-5	0.0036	
Distant cancer	Year 1	0.0293	Campos et al, 2014
	Year 2-3	0.0195	
	Year 4-5	0.0076	

3. Table with mortality rates for women in Romania taken from Eurostat (2023)

Age	Mortality rate
16	0.00021
17	0.00021
18	0.00022
19	0.00032
20	0.00038
21	0.00045
22	0.00032
23	0.00027
24	0.00025
25	0.00032
26	0.00030
27	0.00029
28	0.00049
29	0.00050
30	0.00072
31	0.00057
32	0.00073

34         0.00076           35         0.00098           37         0.00106           38         0.00114           39         0.00105           40         0.00136           41         0.00168           42         0.00176           43         0.00195           44         0.00228           45         0.00234           46         0.00303           48         0.00329           49         0.00382           50         0.00449           52         0.00457           53         0.00581           54         0.00572           55         0.00677           56         0.00733           57         0.00815           58         0.00927           59         0.00972           60         0.01131           61         0.01177           62         0.01309           63         0.01481           64         0.01587           65         0.01710           66         0.01856           67         0.01962           68         0.02508 </th <th>33</th> <th>0.00078</th>	33	0.00078
350.00075360.00098370.00106380.00114390.00105400.00136410.00168420.00176430.00195440.00228450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02990	34	0.00076
36         0.00098           37         0.00106           38         0.00114           39         0.00105           40         0.00136           41         0.00168           42         0.00176           43         0.00195           44         0.00228           45         0.00234           46         0.00287           47         0.00303           48         0.00329           49         0.00382           50         0.00449           52         0.00457           53         0.00572           55         0.00677           56         0.00733           57         0.00815           58         0.00927           59         0.00972           60         0.01131           61         0.01177           62         0.01309           63         0.01481           64         0.01587           65         0.01710           66         0.01856           67         0.01962           68         0.02165           69         0.02508 </td <td>35</td> <td>0.00075</td>	35	0.00075
370.00106380.00114390.00105400.00136410.00168420.00176430.00195440.00228450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02508700.02724710.02990	36	0.00098
38         0.00114           39         0.00105           40         0.00136           41         0.00168           42         0.00176           43         0.00195           44         0.00228           45         0.00234           46         0.00287           47         0.00303           48         0.00329           49         0.00382           50         0.00390           51         0.00449           52         0.00457           53         0.00572           55         0.00677           56         0.00733           57         0.00815           58         0.00927           59         0.00972           60         0.01131           61         0.01177           62         0.01309           63         0.01481           64         0.01587           65         0.01710           66         0.01856           67         0.01962           68         0.02165           69         0.02508           70         0.02990 </td <td>37</td> <td>0.00106</td>	37	0.00106
39         0.00105           40         0.00136           41         0.00168           42         0.00176           43         0.00195           44         0.00228           45         0.00234           46         0.00287           47         0.00303           48         0.00329           49         0.00382           50         0.00390           51         0.00449           52         0.00457           53         0.00581           54         0.00572           55         0.00677           56         0.00733           57         0.00815           58         0.00927           59         0.00972           60         0.01131           61         0.01177           62         0.01309           63         0.01481           64         0.01587           65         0.01710           66         0.01856           67         0.02508           70         0.02508           71         0.02990	38	0.00114
400.00136410.00168420.00176430.00195440.00228450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.02508700.02724710.02990	39	0.00105
410.00168420.00176430.00195440.00228450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01777620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	40	0.00136
420.00176430.00195440.00228450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.02508700.02724710.02990	41	0.00168
430.00195440.00228450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	42	0.00176
440.00228450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02990	43	0.00195
450.00234460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	44	0.00228
460.00287470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02990	45	0.00234
470.00303480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	46	0.00287
480.00329490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02990	47	0.00303
490.00382500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	48	0.00329
500.00390510.00449520.00457530.00581540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	49	0.00382
51 $0.00449$ $52$ $0.00457$ $53$ $0.00581$ $54$ $0.00572$ $55$ $0.00677$ $56$ $0.00733$ $57$ $0.00815$ $58$ $0.00927$ $59$ $0.00972$ $60$ $0.01131$ $61$ $0.01177$ $62$ $0.01309$ $63$ $0.01481$ $64$ $0.01587$ $65$ $0.01710$ $66$ $0.01856$ $67$ $0.01962$ $68$ $0.02165$ $69$ $0.02508$ $70$ $0.02724$ $71$ $0.02990$	50	0.00390
52 $0.00457$ $53$ $0.00581$ $54$ $0.00572$ $55$ $0.00677$ $56$ $0.00733$ $57$ $0.00815$ $58$ $0.00927$ $59$ $0.00972$ $60$ $0.01131$ $61$ $0.01177$ $62$ $0.01309$ $63$ $0.01481$ $64$ $0.01587$ $65$ $0.01710$ $66$ $0.01856$ $67$ $0.01962$ $68$ $0.02165$ $69$ $0.02508$ $70$ $0.02990$	51	0.00449
53 $0.00581$ $54$ $0.00572$ $55$ $0.00677$ $56$ $0.00733$ $57$ $0.00815$ $58$ $0.00927$ $59$ $0.00972$ $60$ $0.01131$ $61$ $0.01177$ $62$ $0.01309$ $63$ $0.01481$ $64$ $0.01587$ $65$ $0.01710$ $66$ $0.01856$ $67$ $0.01962$ $68$ $0.02165$ $69$ $0.02508$ $70$ $0.02724$ $71$ $0.02990$	52	0.00457
540.00572550.00677560.00733570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	53	0.00581
55 $0.00677$ $56$ $0.00733$ $57$ $0.00815$ $58$ $0.00927$ $59$ $0.00972$ $60$ $0.01131$ $61$ $0.01177$ $62$ $0.01309$ $63$ $0.01481$ $64$ $0.01587$ $65$ $0.01710$ $66$ $0.01856$ $67$ $0.01962$ $68$ $0.02165$ $69$ $0.02508$ $70$ $0.02724$ $71$ $0.02990$	54	0.00572
56         0.00733           57         0.00815           58         0.00927           59         0.00972           60         0.01131           61         0.01177           62         0.01309           63         0.01481           64         0.01587           65         0.01710           66         0.01856           67         0.01962           68         0.02165           69         0.02508           70         0.02990	55	0.00677
570.00815580.00927590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	56	0.00733
58         0.00927           59         0.00972           60         0.01131           61         0.01177           62         0.01309           63         0.01481           64         0.01587           65         0.01710           66         0.01856           67         0.01962           68         0.02165           69         0.02724           71         0.02990	57	0.00815
590.00972600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	58	0.00927
600.01131610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	59	0.00972
610.01177620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	60	0.01131
620.01309630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	61	0.01177
630.01481640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	62	0.01309
640.01587650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	63	0.01481
650.01710660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	64	0.01587
660.01856670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	65	0.01710
670.01962680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	66	0.01856
680.02165690.02508700.02724710.02990	67	0.01962
690.02508700.02724710.02990	68	0.02165
700.02724710.02990	69	0.02508
71 0.02990	70	0.02724
	71	0.02990

72	0.03320
73	0.03549
74	0.03982
75	0.04628
76	0.04839
77	0.05731
78	0.06131
79	0.06978
80	0.07652
81	0.09138
82	0.09849
83	0.11033
84	0.12599
85-100	0.19987